

## TOWN OF BISCOE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS

+----

## June 12, 2017 at 7:00 p.m.

<ul> <li>a) Approval of Minutes 5-8-17</li> <li>b) Approval of June 2017 Financial Report</li> <li>3. Public Hearing for Fiscal Year 2017-2018 Budget Manager Hollance</li> <li>4. Approval of Year End Budget Amendments Manager Hollance</li> <li>5. Request for Sewer Tap at 521 Mill Street Manager Hollance</li> <li>6. Schedule Public Hearing Zoning Ordinance Amendment: Offences Manager Hollance</li> </ul>	1.	Call to Order/Pledge of Allegiance and Moment of Silence	Mayor Blake
<ol> <li>Approval of Year End Budget Amendments Manager Holland</li> <li>Request for Sewer Tap at 521 Mill Street Manager Holland</li> <li>Schedule Public Hearing Zoning Ordinance Amendment: Offences Manager Holland</li> <li>Manager Report Manager Holland</li> <li>Mayor's Minutes Commissioner Reports/Staff Reports</li> </ol>	2.	a) Approval of Minutes 5-8-17	Mayor Blake
<ol> <li>Request for Sewer Tap at 521 Mill Street</li> <li>Schedule Public Hearing Zoning Ordinance Amendment: Offences</li> <li>Manager Hollance</li> <li>Manager Report</li> <li>Manager Hollance</li> <li>Mayor's Minutes Commissioner Reports/Staff Reports</li> </ol>	3.	Public Hearing for Fiscal Year 2017-2018 Budget	Manager Holland
<ol> <li>Schedule Public Hearing Zoning Ordinance Amendment: Offences Manager Hollance</li> <li>Manager Report Manager Hollance</li> <li>Mayor's Minutes Commissioner Reports/Staff Reports</li> </ol>	4.	Approval of Year End Budget Amendments	Manager Holland
<ol> <li>Manager Report</li> <li>Manager Holland</li> <li>Mayor's Minutes Commissioner Reports/Staff Reports</li> </ol>	5.	Request for Sewer Tap at 521 Mill Street	Manager Holland
8. Mayor's Minutes Commissioner Reports/Staff Reports	6.	Schedule Public Hearing Zoning Ordinance Amendment: Offences	Manager Holland
Commissioner Reports/Staff Reports	7.	Manager Report	Manager Holland
	8.	Commissioner Reports/Staff Reports	

9. Adjournment

## TOWN OF BISCOE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING May 8, 2017

The Town of Biscoe Board of Commissioners met in a regular session on May 8, 2017 at 7:00 pm in the Municipal Building. Present were: Mayor Jimmy Blake, Mayor Pro-Tem Jerry Smith, Commissioners Gene Anderson, Eddie Reynolds, Jimmy Cagle, and John Beard. Town Manager Brandon Holland and Town Clerk Laura Morton were present.

## Call to Order/Pledge of Allegiance/Moment of Silence

Mayor Blake called the meeting to order at 7:00 pm. The Pledge to the American Flag was recited and a moment of silence was observed.

#### **Consent Agenda**

A motion was made by Mayor Pro-tem Smith, seconded by Commissioner Cagle, and so the motion carried unanimously to approve the minutes from the April 10, 2017 meeting.

- Approval of Minutes 4-10-17
- Approval of Minutes 5-1-17
- Approval of May 2017 Financial Report
- Approval of Fees for Pool Concession for Summer 2017

## Request for Approval of Resolution of Intent for Firemen's Supplemental Retirement

A motion was made by Commissioner Anderson, seconded by Commissioner Beard, and so the motion carried unanimously to approve the following Resolution of Intent:

## TOWN OF BISCOE RESOLUTION OF SUPPORT

WHEREAS, the N.C. General Assembly has amended G.S. 58-84-35 to allow for additional expenditures to local relief funds;

WHEREAS, in addition to allowing for additional expenditures, the N.C. General Assembly placed a cap on the amount of money that can be held in the local relief fund;

WHEREAS, the cap on the relief fund is set at \$2,500 per firefighter on the roster and a minimum of \$500 per firefighter on the roster, or \$20,000 whichever is greater;

WHEREAS, if the fund balance exceeds \$2,500 per firefighter on the roster then that fire district is withheld the annual percentage on tax paid for property coverage and those funds disbursed evenly among the other fire districts in the county;

WHEREAS, a Supplemental Retirement Account is a valid method of allowed additional expenditures through G.S. 58-84-35;

WHEREAS, a Supplemental Retirement Account would be used to provide an additional benefit to retired members of the Biscoe Fire Department;

WHEREAS, a Supplemental Retirement Account would be used to provide a recruitment incentive to the Biscoe Fire Department, as well as retain members for a greater length of time under the current Biscoe Fire Department Supplemental Retirement Account Plan;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE TOWN OF BISCOE, NC, beginning July 1, 2017 intends to financially support the Biscoe Fire Department by providing additional funding to the Supplemental Retirement Account to maintain the account for the purposes of aiding in retention and recruitment of Volunteer Firefighters; and to provide additional benefit to retired members of the Biscoe Fire Department.

Section 1: This motion shall take effect immediately upon approval of the Supplemental Retirement Account by the NC State Firemen's Association.

## Set Public Hearing for Fiscal Year 2017-2018 Budget for June 12, 2017

A motion was made by Mayor Pro-tem Smith, seconded by Commissioner Reynolds, and so the motion carried unanimously schedule a Public Hearing for Fiscal Year 2017-2018 Budget for June 12, 2017.

## **Manager Report**

Manager Holland provided the following report:

## Reminder of Biscoe Community Center Open House

Manager Holland reminded the Board of the Biscoe Community Center Open House at 5 on Thursday, May 11, 2017.

## Notification of Disposition of Files per NC Records Retention & Disposition Schedule

A motion was made by Commissioner Beard, seconded by Mayor Pro-tem Smith, and so the motion carried unanimously to dispose of the following files in accordance with the NC State Archives Records & Retention scheduled:

- 2005-2007 Tax Payment Receipt Journal
- 2008 Consumer Confidence Report
- 2008-2010 Property Tax & Tax Scrolls
- 2010-12 Water Statistics
- 2013 Water Prebilling Reports
- 2013-14 Fund Transfers
- 2013-14 Vendor Files AP & Reports
- 2014 Pool Revenues/Pool Parties
- 2014-15 Water Billing: Pre-Bill Report, Transaction Corrections, Debt Set-off, Master Balance Report, Payment Central Journal

\*Note: It is not a requirement to have this presented to the Board; however, Town Staff appreciates the importance of transparency.

## **Request for Meter Upgrade for Solar Farm**

A motion was made by Mayor Pro-tem Smith, seconded by Commissioner Anderson, and so the motion carried unanimously to approve either a 1" or a 2"; whichever, Bobby Myrick requests.

#### Reports

#### Mayor's Minutes

- Went to Riverwild Ribbon Cutting at Lilly's Bridge
- Met with Mayor and Town Manager of Mt. Gilead regarding a joint venture with the County and Duke Power about a recreation area and beautification of the Old Lilly's Bridge.
- Attended Senior Cookout in the Park with Commissioners Gene Anderson and Jimmy Cagle
- Went to Troy for a meeting regarding signage for GoMontgomery
- Attended Sunrise Service at the cemetery on Easter Sunday
- Conference call with the RPO from Florida (Jackie Morris, Alvin Foster (Mayor of Yanceyville)), Kelly Larkin (Administrator of RPO) also were on the call
- Attended Town Budget Meeting
- Attended Executive Meeting at the COG with Jackie Morris
- Attended Candor Fire Department Auction

#### **Public Comment**

Mr. Rorie of 423 Bruton Street spoke to the Board regarding debris on Harris Street and the lack of police presence. He also was concerned about flooding of the stream when there is a heavy rain.

Mayor Blake said we are working on getting the area cleaned up. He suggested that Mr. Rorie check back with the Town Manager on the progress. He explained the Town has applied for a grant for sidewalks. Mayor Blake asked Town Manager Holland to contact NC Department of Transportation about the flooding.

## **Commissioner Comments/Reports**

## **Carolina Dairy**

Commissioner Reynolds asked where the Town stands with meeting with Carolina Dairy. Manager Holland said it was his intentions to have Bill Lester meet with the Board so he could answer Board questions. Commissioner Reynolds said it is important that the Town Manager and Public Works Director be involved in any meeting.

## GVK

The Board discussed the problem with GVK pump.

#### Census

Manager Holland discussed the upcoming Census.

## Adjournment

There being no further business to bring before the Board, Commissioner Reynolds made the motion to adjourn, and Commissioner Beard made the second. All voted in favor. Meeting adjourned at 7:25 p.m.

## MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT

FIRST BANK ACCOUNTS 2017 MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT				
ACCOUNT	INTEREST RATE	BALANCE	STATUS	
MONEY MARKET	.15%	1,389,446.02	RECONCILED THRU May 31, 2017	
GENERAL FUND 10 – CD XX54	.15%	\$236,527.63	RECONCILED THRU May 31, 2017	
FUND 21 – CAPITAL RESERVE CD XX49	.15%	\$34,533.56	RECONCILED THRU May 31, 2017	
FUND 72 LEO – CD XX30	.15%	\$139,453.13	RECONCILED THRU May 31, 2017	
TOTAL FIRST BANK	ACCOUNTS	\$1,799,960.34		

FIDELITY BANK ACCOUNTS 2017 MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT					
ACCOUNT	INTEREST RATE	BALANCE	STATUS		
CENTRAL DEPOSITORY	.10%	\$766,499.73	RECONCILED THRU May 31, 2017		
PAYROLL ACCOUNT	0%	\$140,908.53	RECONCILED THRU May 31, 2017		
POWELL BILL ACCOUNT	.02%	\$62,893.23	RECONCILED THRU May 31, 2017		
TOTAL FIDELITY BANK	ACCOUNTS	\$970,301.49			

NC DEBT SET-OFF ACCOUNT – NCCMT 2017 MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT				
	INTEREST			
ACCOUNT	RATE	BALANCE	STATUS	
NC DEBT SET-OFF ACCOUNT – GOVT	.56	\$ 4,818.79	RECONCILED THRU	
			May 31, 2017	
TOTAL NCCMT	ACCOUNTS	\$4,818.79		

COMMERCIAL LOAN – INDUSTRIAL PUMP STATION						
ACCOUNT INDUSTRIAL PUMP STATION BALANCE STATUS ORIGINAL LOAN AMOUNT						
CL NOTE	\$350,000.00	\$240,553.12	Payment made through			
	Monthly Payment \$6,198.91		May 1, 2017			
TOTAL \$240,553.12						

NEW NCC	CMI		MENT ACCOUNTS
PAYROLL (GF) GOVT. RECONCILED THRU May 31, 2017	.56	\$100,093.27	ACCOUNT OPENED APRIL 3 <sup>RD</sup> & FUNDS WIRED APRIL 6 <sup>TH</sup>
CEMETERY (GF) TERM RECONCILED THRU May 31, 2017	.91	\$50,074.76	ACCOUNT OPENED APRIL 3 <sup>RD</sup> & FUNDS WIRED APRIL 6 <sup>TH</sup>
HALLOWEEN IN THE PARK (GF) TERM RECONCILED THRU May 31, 2017	.91	\$25,036.13	ACCOUNT OPENED APRIL 3 <sup>RD</sup> & FUNDS WIRED APRIL 6 <sup>TH</sup>
GENERAL NEEDS (GF) TERM RECONCILED THRU May 31, 2017	.91	\$150,216.78	ACCOUNT OPENED APRIL 3 <sup>RD</sup> & FUNDS WIRED APRIL 6 <sup>TH</sup>
WATER IMPROVEMENTS (WS) TERM RECONCILED THRU May 31, 2017	.91	\$125,180.65	ACCOUNT OPENED APRIL 3 <sup>RD</sup> & FUNDS WIRED APRIL 6 <sup>TH</sup>
		<u>\$450,601.59</u>	

# Tax Payments from Montgomery County Tax Department have been received through April 30, 2017.

## Auditors will be here July 11, 2017 and The week of September 11, 2017

## **APPLICATION FOR WATER / SEWER TAP**

NAME Brent	Tedder	-		×		
MAILING ADDRESS	3015	Pekin	Rd	Candor	NC	27229
LOCATION ADDRESS				Biscoe	NC	(sewer)
PHONE NUMBER	910-220	2-1045				

- In accordance with the Town of Biscoe Code of Ordinances (Section 5-1-7) every application for a water connection (tap) and a sewer connection (tap) shall be made on a form provided by the Town, shall be signed by the applicant, shall be accompanied by the proper fee for making the connections, and a copy filed with the superintendent.
- Each customer applying for water service shall pay a connection fee in the amount fixed by the Board of Commissioners.
- If a bore or push under a street, sidewalk, roadway, or railroad tracks outside city limits is necessary, the applicant shall pay the cost of the bore (per invoice) before any services are made available.
- Schedules of current water and sewer rates are available to the public in the Clerk's office.
- Once a tap has been made and water service is extended to the customer, a minimum monthly charge is made, even if no water is consumed.
- Non-charging of the minimum monthly service charge may be requested, at which time, the meter box will be locked until reconnection is requested and a reconnection fee is paid.

I have read the above statements and agree to abide by the requirements of this application.

Signature Mg adder
Do not write below the dotted line
CHARGES

RESIDENTIAL	WATER TAP	\$
COMMERCIAL	SEWER TAP	\$
INSIDE	CONNECTION FEE	\$
OUTSIDE		

. . . . .

## **Section 18 - OFFENSES**

modified

## • 18.1 - ABANDONED VEHICLES

## Declaration of purpose.

Whereas, the Town of Biscoe is authorized by G.S. 160A-193, G.S. 160A-303 and G.S. 160A-303.2 to regulate, restrain or prohibit abandoned, nuisance and junked motor vehicles on public and private property within the Town's ordinance-making jurisdiction; and

Whereas, the Town of Biscoe finds it necessary and desirable to promote or enhance:

(1)

The quality of urban attractiveness and aesthetic appearance of the Town;

(2)

(3)

The preservation of the liveability and attractiveness of neighborhoods;

The protection of property values throughout the Town:

(4)

The promotion of tourism, conventions, and other opportunities for economic development for the Town;

(5)

The attractiveness of the Town's thoroughfares and commercial roads which present the primary, public visibility to visitors and to passers-by of the Town; and

(6)

The promotion of the comfort, happiness, and emotional stability of occupants of property in the vicinity of junked motor vehicles.

## • 18.1.2 - Administration.

The Police Department and Town Manager of the Town shall be responsible for the administration and enforcement of this chapter. The Police Department shall be responsible for administering the removal and disposition of vehicles determined to be "abandoned" on the public streets and highways within the Town, and on property owned by the Town. The Town Manager shall be responsible for administering the removal and disposition of "abandoned," "nuisance" or "junked motor vehicles" located on private property. The Town may, on an annual basis, contract with private tow truck operators or towing businesses to remove, store, and dispose of abandoned vehicles, nuisance vehicles and junked motor vehicles in compliance with this chapter and applicable state laws. Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to limit the legal authority or powers of officers of the Town Police Department and Fire Department in enforcing other laws or in otherwise carrying out their duties.

## Sec. 18.1.3. - Definitions.

For purposes of this chapter, certain words and terms are defined as herein indicated:

(a)

Abandoned vehicle. As authorized and defined in G.S. 160A-303, an abandoned motor vehicle is one that:

(1)

Is left upon a public street or highway in violation of a law or ordinance prohibiting parking; or

(2)

Is left on a public street or highway for longer than seven (7) days; or

(3)

- Is left on property owned or operated by the Town for longer than twenty-four (24) hours; or (4)
  - Is left on private property without the consent of the owner, occupant or lessee thereof, for longer than two (2) hours.

#### (b)

Authorizing official. The supervisory employee of the Police Department or the Town Manager, respectively, designated to authorize the removal of the vehicles under the provisions of this chapter.

#### (C)

*Motor vehicle or vehicle.* All machines designed or intended to travel over land by self-propulsion or while attached to any self-propelled vehicle.

#### (d)

Junked motor vehicle. As authorized and defined in G.S. 160A-303.2 the term, junked motor vehicle means a vehicle that does not display a current license plate lawfully upon that vehicle and that:

#### (1)

Is partially dismantled or wrecked; or

#### (2)

Cannot be self propelled or moved in the manner in which is originally was intended to move; or

(3)

Is more than five (5) years old and appears to be worth less than one hundred dollars (\$100.00).

#### (e)

*Nuisance vehicle.* A vehicle on public or private property that is determined and declared to be a health or safety hazard, a public nuisance, and unlawful, including a vehicle found to be:

#### (1)

A breeding ground or harbor for mosquitoes, other insects, rats or other pests; or

(2)

A point of heavy growth of weeds or other noxious vegetation over eight (8) inches in height; or

(3)

A point of collection of pools or ponds of water; or

(4)

A point of concentration of quantities of gasoline, oil or other flammable or explosive materials as evidenced by odor; or

(5)

One which has areas of confinement which cannot be operated from the inside, such as trunks, hoods, etc.; or

(6)

So situated or located that there is danger of it falling or turning over; or

(7)

One which is a point of collection of garbage, food waste, animal waste, or any other rotten or putrescible matter of any kind; or

(8)

One which has sharp parts thereof which are jagged or contain sharp edges of metal or glass; or

(9)

Any other vehicle specifically declared a health and safety hazard and a public nuisance by the Town.

## Sec. 18.1.4. - Abandoned vehicle unlawful; removal authorized.

(a)

It shall be unlawful for the registered owner or person entitled to possession of a vehicle to cause or allow such vehicle to be abandoned as the term is defined herein.

(b)

Upon investigation, proper authorizing officials of the Town may determine that a vehicle is an abandoned vehicle and order the vehicle removed.

## Sec. 18.1.5. - Nuisance vehicle unlawful; removal authorized.

(a)

It shall be unlawful for the registered owner or person entitled to possession of a motor vehicle, or for the owner, lessee, or occupant of the real property upon which the vehicle is located to leave or allow the vehicle to remain on the property after it has been declared a nuisance vehicle.

(b)

Upon investigation, the Town Manager may determine and declare that a vehicle is a health or safety hazard and a nuisance vehicle as defined above, and order the vehicle removed.

## • Sec. 18.1.6. - Junked motor vehicle regulated; removal authorized.

(a)

It shall be unlawful for the registered owner or person entitled to the possession of a junked motor vehicle, or for the owner, lessee, or occupant of the real property upon which a junked motor vehicle is located to leave or allow the vehicle to remain on the property after the vehicle has been ordered removed.

#### (b)

Subject to the provisions of subsection (e), upon investigation, the Town Manager may order the removal of a junked motor vehicle as defined in this chapter after finding in writing that the aesthetic benefits of removing the vehicle outweigh the burdens imposed on the private property owner. Such finding shall be based on a balancing of the monetary loss of the apparent owner against the corresponding gain to the public by promoting or enhancing community, neighborhood or area appearance. The following among other relevant factors may be considered:

(1)

Protection of property values;

(2)

Promotion of tourism and other economic development opportunities;

(3)

Indirect protection of public health and safety;

(4)

Preservation of the character and integrity of the community; and

(5)

Promotion of the comfort, happiness and emotional stability of area residents.

## Sec. 18.1.7. - Removal of abandoned, nuisance or junked motor vehicles; pre-towing notice requirements.

Except as set forth in Section 7 below, an abandoned, nuisance or junked vehicle which is to be removed shall be towed only after notice to the registered owner or person entitled to possession of the vehicle. In the case of a nuisance vehicle or a junked motor vehicle, if the names and mailing addresses of the registered owner or person entitled to the possession of the vehicle, or the owner, lessee, or occupancy of the real property upon which the vehicle is located can be ascertained in the exercise of reasonable diligence, the notice shall be given by first class mail. The person who mails the notice(s) shall retain a written record to show the name(s) and address(es) to which mailed, and the date mailed. If such names and addresses cannot be ascertained or if the vehicle to be removed is an abandoned motor vehicle, notice shall be given by affixing on the windshield or some other conspicuous place on the vehicle a notice indicating that the vehicle will be removed by the Town on a specified date (no sooner than seven (7) days after the notice is affixed). The notice shall state that the vehicle will be removed by the Town on a specified date or mailed, unless the vehicle is moved by the owner or legal possessor prior to that time.

With respect to abandoned vehicles on private property, nuisance vehicles and junked motor vehicles to which notice is required to be given, if the registered owner or person entitled to possession does not remove the vehicle but chooses to appeal the determination that the vehicle is abandoned, a nuisance vehicle or in the case of a junked motor vehicle that the aesthetic benefits of removing the vehicle outweigh the burdens, such appeal shall be made to the Town Council in writing, heard at the next regularly scheduled meeting of the Town Council, and further proceedings to remove the vehicle shall be stayed until the appeal is heard and decided.

.

## • Sec. 18.1.8. - Exceptions to prior notice requirement.

The requirement that notice be given prior to the removal of an abandoned, nuisance or junked motor vehicle may, as determined by the authorizing official, be omitted in those circumstances where there is a special need for prompt action to eliminate traffic obstructions or to otherwise maintain and protect the public safety and welfare. Such findings shall, in all cases, be entered by the authorizing official in the appropriate daily records. Circumstances justifying the removal of vehicles without prior notice includes:

#### (a)

Vehicles abandoned on the streets. For vehicles left on the public streets and highways, the Town hereby determines that immediate removal of such vehicles may be warranted when they are:

(1)

Obstructing traffic;

(2)

Parked in violation of an ordinance prohibiting or restricting parking;

(3)

Parked in a no-stopping or standing zone;

(4)

Parked in loading zones;

(5)

Parked in bus zone; or

(6)

Parked in violation of temporary parking restrictions imposed under code sections.

(b)

Other abandoned or nuisance vehicles. With respect to abandoned or nuisance vehicles left on city-owned property other than the streets and highways, and on private property, such vehicles may be removed without giving prior notice only in those circumstances where the authorizing official finds a special need for prompt action to protect and maintain the public health, safety and welfare. By way of illustration and not of limitation, such circumstances include vehicles blocking or obstructing ingress or egress to businesses and residences, vehicles parked in such location or manner as to pose a traffic hazard, and vehicles causing damage to public or private property.

## Sec. 18.1.9. - Removal of vehicle; post-towing notice requirements.

Any abandoned, nuisance or junked motor vehicle which has been ordered removed may, as directed by the Town, be removed to a storage garage or area by the tow truck operator or towing business contracting to perform such services for the Town. Whenever such a vehicle is removed, the authorizing Town official shall immediately notify the last known registered owner of the vehicle, such notice to include the following:

(1)

The description of the removed vehicle;

(2)

The location where the vehicle is stored;

The violation with which the owner is charged, if any;

(4)

The procedure the owner must follow to redeem the vehicle; and

(5)

The procedure the owner must follow to request a probable cause hearing on the removal.

The Town shall attempt to give notice to the vehicle owner by telephone; however, whether or not the owner is reached by telephone, written notice, including the information set forth in subsections (1) through (5) above, shall also be mailed to the registered owner's last known address, unless this notice is waived in writing by the vehicle owner or his agent.

If the vehicle is registered in North Carolina, notice shall be given within twenty-four (24) hours. If the vehicle is not registered in the state, notice shall be given to the registered owner within seventy-two (72) hours from the removal of the vehicle.

Whenever an abandoned, nuisance or junked motor vehicle is removed, and such vehicle has no valid registration or registration plates, the authorizing Town official shall make reasonable efforts, including checking the vehicle identification number, to determine the last known registered owner of the vehicle and to notify him of the information set forth in subsections (1) through (5) above.

# Sec. 18.1.10. - Right to probable cause hearing before sale or final disposition of vehicle.

After the removal of an abandoned vehicle, nuisance vehicle or junked motor vehicle, the owner or any other person entitled to possession is entitled to a hearing for the purpose of determining if probable cause existed for removing the vehicle. A request for hearing must be filed in writing with the county magistrate designated by the Chief District Court Judge to receive such hearing requests. The magistrate will set the hearing within seventy-two (72) hours of receipt of the request, and the hearing will be conducted in accordance with the provisions of G.S. 20-222, as amended.

## Sec. 18.1.11. - Redemption of vehicle during proceedings.

At any stage in the proceedings, including before the probable cause hearing, the owner may obtain possession of the removed vehicle by paying the towing fee, including any storage charges, or by posting a bond for double the amount of such fees and charges to the Town truck operator or towing business having custody of the removed vehicle. Upon regaining possession of a vehicle, the owner or person entitled to the possession of the vehicle shall not allow or engage in further violation of this Ordinance.

## • Sec. 18.1.12. - Sale and disposition of unclaimed vehicle.

Any abandoned, nuisance or junked motor vehicle which is not claimed by the owner or other party entitled to possession will be disposed of by the tow truck operator or towing business having custody of the vehicle. Disposition of such a vehicle shall be carried out in coordination with the Town and in accordance with Article 1 of Chapter 44A of the North Carolina General Statutes.

(3)

## • Sec. 18.1.13. - Conditions on removal of vehicles from private property.

As a general policy, the Town will not remove a vehicle from private property if the owner, occupant or lessee of such property could have the vehicle removed under applicable state law procedures. In no case will a vehicle be removed by the Town from private property without a written request of the owner, occupant or lessee, except in those cases where a vehicle is a nuisance vehicle or is a junked motor vehicle which has been ordered removed by the Town Manager. The Town may require any person requesting the removal of an abandoned, nuisance or junked motor vehicle from private property to indemnify the Town against any loss, expenses or liability because of the removal, storage, or sale thereof.

## Sec. 18.1.14. - Protection against criminal or civil liability.

No person shall be held to answer in any civil or criminal action to any owner or other persona legally entitled to the possession of an abandoned, nuisance or junked motor vehicle, for disposing of such vehicle as provided in this chapter.

## • Sec. 18.1.15. - Exceptions.

Nothing in this chapter shall apply to any vehicle: (1) which is located in a bona fide "automobile graveyard" or "junkyard" as defined in N.C.G.S. 136-143, in accordance with the "Junkyard Control Act", N.C.G.S. 136-141, et seq.; (2) which is an enclosed building; (3) which is on the premises of a business enterprise being operated in a lawful place and manner if the vehicle is necessary to the operation of the enterprise; or (4) which is an appropriate storage place or depositor maintained in a lawful place and manner by the Town.

## • Sec. 18.1.16. - Unlawful removal of impounded vehicle.

It shall be unlawful for any person to remove or attempt to remove from any storage facility designated by the Town any vehicle which has been impounded pursuant to the provisions of this code unless and until all towing and impoundment fees which are due, or bond in lieu of such fees, have been paid.

## • CHAPTER 18.2 - ANIMALS

## • Secs. 18.2.1 - Declaration of purpose.

Whereas, the Town of Biscoe is authorized to regulate or prohibit the keeping of certain types of animals within the corporate limits of the Town.

## • Sec. 18.2.2 - Definitions.

For purposes of this chapter, certain words and terms are defined as herein included:

Adequate shelter. An enclosure of at least three (3) sides, a roof and a ground surface. The enclosure shall be ventilated and have sufficient room for the animal(s) to move about freely and lie comfortably.

Animal. Excluding fish, any nonhuman, vertebrate species, domestic or nondomestic.

Animal at large. Any animal off the premises of its owner and not under sufficient physical restraint, such as a leash, cage, bridle, or similarly effective device to allow the animal to be controlled.

Animal under restraint. Any animal confined within a vehicle, confined within the real property limits of its owner, or secured by a leash or lead.

*Domestic animal.* Any animal that is neither livestock nor exotic by definition, domesticated by man as to live and breed in a tame condition.

*Exotic animal.* Any wild animal not customarily confined or cultivated by humans for domestic or commercial purposes.

*Exotic animal, dangerous.* Any exotic animal, which demonstrates actions that would constitute a danger to any person, domestic livestock, other domestic animals, or property.

(1)

Characteristics used to determine the dangerous nature of an exotic animal include:

(i)

Disposition;

(ii) –

Physical or inherent characteristics;

(iii)

Size;

(iv)

Behavior;

(v)

Propensity to act without provocation.

*Livestock.* Cattle, swine, sheep, goats, and members of the equidae family of mammals such as horses, mules, and donkeys.

*Owner.* Any person, group of persons, firm, partnership or corporation owning, keeping, having charge of, sheltering, feeding, harboring, possessing, or taking care of any animal for more than five (5) days.

Owner's real property. Any real property owned or leased by the owner of the animal(s). This property does not include any public right-of-way or a common area of condominium, apartment complex, or townhouse development.

*Pet.* Animals kept inside the primary or accessory dwelling unit entirely for pleasure rather than utility.

Vicious animal. Any animal, which constitutes a physical threat to human beings or other animals by virtue of the occurrence and severity of unprovoked attacks of such number and severity as to cause property damage or physical injury. These animals are prohibited within the Town limits.

## Sec. 18.2.3. - Animals at large.

(a)

No animal shall be left at large. Animals shall be under restraint at all times.

(b)

It shall be unlawful for any owner to permit an animal to be at large. Animals found to be at large will be confiscated.

(c)

An owner may lawfully permit an animal which is not dangerous to be at large in the course of a show, obedience school, tracking tests, field training, or other events sanctioned or supervised by a recognized organization. Hunting dogs may be at large in the course of hunting under the control of the owner.

## • Sec. 18.2.4 - Tethering prohibited.

(a)

Tethering is defined as a means of tying or fastening a dog outdoors on a rope, chain or other line for the purpose of restraint. Tethering does not include restraint of a dog on an attended leash.

(b)

A dog may not be tethered for more than three (3) hours total in any twenty-four-hour period.

(c)

Any device used to tether a dog must be at least ten (10) feet long and attached in a manner that prevents injury to the dog or entanglement.

(d)

The device used to tether the dog can weigh no more than ten (10) percent of the dog's body weight and must allow access to food and water.

## • Sec. 18.2.5 - Permit to keep near residences.

(a)

No person shall stable, tie, maintain, corral, or otherwise keep within two hundred (200) feet of any dwelling (other than the owner's), house, apartment or other residence occupied by any person, animals other than pets without first obtaining in writing, signed by the Town.

(b)

Prohibited animals within the 200-foot residential buffer include but are not limited to: cattle, horses, mules, swine, sheep, goats, and fowl.

## Sec. 18.2.6 - Livestock.

(a)

Livestock and domestic fowl of all descriptions are prohibited in any area of the Town except areas zoned for residential purposes by the zoning ordinance.

(b)

Except for female domestic chickens as allowed in subsection (d), it shall be unlawful, regardless of zoning, for any person to maintain, keep, house, or stable any horse, mule, pony,

cow, sheep, goat, domestic fowl or livestock within two hundred (200) feet of any dwelling, school, church, business, commercial or professional development.

(c)

Not more than a total of three (3) of such animals shall be maintained on one (1) lot and such lot must contain no less than one (1) acre per animal.

(d)

No more than five (5) domestic female chickens shall be maintained on one (1) lot.

(e)

All livestock shall be kept and maintained in an enclosed area.

(f)

Stables shall be constructed and maintained in conformity with the requirements of the Montgomery County Board of Health and the North Carolina State Building Code.

(1)

Shelter must aid in the prevention of animal cruelty with a sufficient supply of shade, food and water for the animal(s).

(2)

Once stable plans and area have been approved as to sanitation requirements by the Health Department, application shall then be made to the Building Inspector for a permit for such construction.

## • Sec. 18.2.7 - Exotic or wild animals.

(a)

It shall be unlawful for any person to keep, maintain, possess or have under his control within the Town any venomous reptile or any other wild or exotic animal.

(b)

It shall be unlawful to keep and confine native wildlife on any premises.

## • Sec. 18.2.8 - Confinement and control of inherently dangerous mammals.

It shall be unlawful for any owner to keep an inherently dangerous mammal within the Town's corporate limits.

(b)

Exceptions. The following shall be exempt from this ordinance:

(1)

Any nonprofit institution or exhibitor or dealer, which owns or harbors inherently dangerous mammals for research, provided that such institution/facility/premises are licensed by the U.S. Department of Agriculture or Interior.

(2)

Traveling fairs, circuses and carnivals shall also be exempt from this section.

## • Sec. 18.2.9 - Penalties for violation.

Any person, firm or corporation violating any of the provisions of any section or division of this chapter for which no other penalty is provided, or failing or neglecting or refusing to comply with

<sup>(</sup>a)

same, shall, upon conviction, be guilty of a Class 3 misdemeanor and subject to a fine not to exceed two hundred dollars (\$200.00) or imprisonment not to exceed thirty (30) days, and each day that any of the provisions of this ordinance are violated shall constitute a separate offense.

(a)

Any person who violates any provision of this ordinance may be fined a civil penalty of two hundred dollars (\$200.00). If the violation is continued, each day's violation shall constitute a separate offense. Payment of said penalties shall be made within ten (10) days. Civil penalties may be assessed by citation, hand delivered to the owner or by certified mail and recovered by the Town of Biscoe in a civil action in the nature of a debt.

(b)

Violations of this ordinance may subject the violator to criminal as well as civil action. In addition to the civil penalties or fees imposed under this ordinance, violation of this ordinance shall be a misdemeanor for which a criminal summons may be issued.

(C)

Payment of a fine imposed in criminal proceedings pursuant to this subsection does not relieve a person of his liability for taxes, civil penalties or fees imposed under this ordinance.

(d)

In addition, enforcement of this ordinance may be by appropriate equitable remedy, injunction or order of abatement issued by a court of competent jurisdiction.

## • Sec. 18.2.10 - Exemptions.

(a)

The Town Council reserves the right to waive the requirements of this ordinance on a case-bycase basis for any property annexed after November 1, 2007, into the corporate limits and which will not be subdivided.

(b)

Where property owners can demonstrate existing livestock has been kept on property within the corporate limits on October 1, 2007, the Planning Director or Town Council may grant a waiver to the requirements of this ordinance for the remainder of the life of those animals. Such waivers will be discretionary and intended for existing conditions that meet the spirit and intent of the ordinance.

## • CHAPTER 18.3 - LITTERING

## • Sec. 18.3.1 - Littering prohibited.

It shall be unlawful for any person to throw or deposit on any street or sidewalk, or on any private property, except with written permission of the owner or occupant of the private property, any trash, refuse, garbage, building material, cans, bottles, broken glass, paper, or any type of litter.

## • Sec. 18.3.2 - Littering from vehicles.

It shall be unlawful for any person while a driver or a passenger in a vehicle to throw or deposit litter on any street or other public place within the Town, or on private property. Sec. 18.3.3 - Maintenance of public areas.

Every owner, lessee, tenant, occupant, or other person in charge of any commercial establishment or premises which maintains any paved or unpaved areas for the use of the public, either for parking or as access areas and incident to the carrying on of the principal business of any commercial establishment or premises and which parking or access areas abut or lie within ten (10) feet of any public street or other public way, shall keep and maintain the areas clean and free from trash, litter, rubbish, and any materials liable to be blown, deposited, or cast on the street or other public way.

## Sec. 18.3.4 - Receptacles.

Suitable receptacles may be provided in parking or access areas within the meaning of section 18.3.4 of this chapter. The receptacles shall be plainly marked and constructed to prevent scattering of any trash, litter, rubbish, or other materials deposited therein.

## • CHAPTER 18.4 - NUISANCE

State Law reference— Abatement of public health nuisances, see G.S. 160A-193.

## • Sec. 18.4 - Nuisance conditions.

The existence of any of the following conditions on any vacant lot or other parcel of land within the corporate limits is declared to be dangerous and prejudicial to the public health or safety and to constitute a public nuisance:

(a)

The growth of noxious weeds or grass to a height in excess of twelve (12) inches.

(b)

Any accumulation of rubbish, trash, or junk causing or threatening to cause a fire hazard, or causing or threatening to cause the accumulation of stagnant water, or causing or threatening to cause the inhabitation therein of rats, mice, snakes, or vermin of any kind which is or may be dangerous or prejudicial to the public health.

(c)

Any accumulation of animal or vegetable matter that is offensive by virtue of odors or vapors or by the inhabitation therein of rats, mice, snakes, or vermin of any kind which is or may be dangerous or prejudicial to the public health.

(d)

- The open storage of any abandoned ice box, refrigerator, stove, glass, building material, building rubbish, or similar items.
- (e) Any other condition detrimental to the public health.

## Sec. 18.4.1 - Investigation.

The Town's Code Enforcement Officer, upon reasonable suspicion of the existence of any of the conditions described in <u>section 18.4.1</u>, shall investigate the affected lot and determine whether conditions exist which constitute a public nuisance as declared in <u>section 18.4.1</u>.

## • Sec. 18.4.2 - Notice to abate; right to appeal; abatement.

(a)

If the Town's Code Enforcement Officer determines that a nuisance condition exists on the affected lot, the officer shall give notice to the owner of the premises to abate or remove such conditions within ten (10) calendar days. Serving of such notice shall be by any one (1) of the following methods:

(1)

By delivery in person or by leaving the notice at the usual place of abode of the owner with a person who is over the age of sixteen (16) years of age and a member of the family of the owner.

(2)

By the deposit of first class mail, postage prepaid, to the owner of the property at his or her last known address, as listed by the Montgomery County Revenue Department.

(3)

By the posting of a placard in a conspicuous place on the premises on which the violation exists in conjunction with first class mail notice.

(b)

Service shall be deemed sufficient if the first class mail is not returned by the post office within ten (10) days of deposit. Service by posting shall be deemed sufficient if the first class mail is returned and notice of the pending proceedings was posted in a conspicuous place on the property affected on the day the first class mail notice was deposited.

(C)

The notice shall state specifically which nuisance condition listed in <u>Section 18.4.2</u> is present on the affected parcel of land, and shall also inform the property owner that he or she may, within the ten-day period, appeal the Code Enforcement Officer's decision to the Town Council by giving written notice to the Code Enforcement Officer.

(d)

An appeal made by the property owner within ten (10) days of the service of notice shall stay the abatement of the property until the Town Council has made a final determination on whether a nuisance condition exists on the affected lot.

(e)

If the property owner, within this ten-day period, neglects to abate the nuisance condition and fails to appeal the Code Enforcement Officer's decision to the Town Council, then the Code Enforcement Officer shall cause the condition to be removed or otherwise abated.

(f)

This section shall not apply if the property owner can show that the nuisance was created solely by the actions of another.

## • Sec. 18.4.3 - Notice of appeal hearing; hearing.

(a)

Upon an appeal to the Town Council, the Town's Code Enforcement Officer shall deposit a first class mail notice, postage prepaid and addressed to the appealing owner, specifying the time and place for the appeal to be heard by the Town Council.

The hearing shall be heard at the next regularly scheduled Town Council meeting for which agenda items are being accepted by the Town Clerk. The owner or any part in interest shall have the right to file a written answer to the Town Council and to appear in person, or otherwise, and give evidence at the place and time fixed in the notice. Any person desiring to do so may attend such hearing and give evidence relevant to the matter being heard. The rules of evidence prevailing in courts of law or equity shall not be controlling in such hearings.

## • Sec. 18.4.4 – Town Board decision.

The Town Board of Commissioners, after hearing all the evidence presented at the nuisance appeal hearing, may reverse the Code Enforcement Officer's determination that a nuisance condition exists on the subject property. The Board of Commissioners, however, may affirm the Code Enforcement Officer's findings and it then shall enact an ordinance specifically declaring the condition existing on the affected parcel of land to be a public nuisance which is dangerous and prejudicial to the public health or safety and ordering the Code Enforcement Officer to abate the nuisance condition. The Board of Commissioners decision shall be final.

## • Sec. 18.4.5 - Abatement by Town.

Following an appeal hearing, if the Town Council has ordered the Town's Code Enforcement Officer to abate the nuisance condition on the affected lot, the Code Enforcement Officer shall deposit a first class mail notice, postage prepaid, to the property owner as reported by the Montgomery County Tax Department that he or she must abate the nuisance within ten (10) days of the deposit. If the property owner within this ten-day period neglects to abate the public nuisance condition, then the Code Enforcement Officer shall cause the condition to be removed or otherwise remedied by having employees of the Town, or subcontractors retained by the Town, go upon the premises and remove or otherwise abate the nuisance under the supervision of the Code Enforcement Officer. The expense of remedying the abatement shall be paid by the property owner. If the expense is not paid, it is a lien on the land or premises where the nuisance occurred, and such lien shall have the same priority and be collected as unpaid ad valorem taxes. In addition hereto, any such unpaid expenses shall be a lien on other property owned by such property owner located within the Town's corporate limits, or within one (1) mile of the Town's corporate limits, except for such property owner's primary residence, and such lien shall have the same priority as a money judgment lien.

## • Sec. 18.4.6 - Costs of abatement; lien.

(a)

The actual cost and associated expenses including advertising, certified mail and attorneys fees incurred by the Town in removing or otherwise remedying a public nuisance shall be charged to the owner of such lot or parcel of land, and it shall be the duty of the Tax Collector to mail a statement of such charges to the owner or other person in possession of the premises with instructions that such charges are due and payable within thirty (30) days from the receipt thereof.

(b)

In the event charges for the removal or abatement of a public nuisance are not paid within thirty (30) days after the receipt of a statement of charges, such charges shall become a lien upon the land or premises where the public nuisance existed and shall be collected as unpaid taxes, as provided in G.S. 160A-193.

(b)

## • Sec. 18.4.7 - Annual notice to chronic violators.

The notice given to violators required in <u>Section 18.4.7</u> is modified as set forth herein for chronic violators of the nuisance condition for tall noxious weeds or grass enumerated in <u>Section 18.4.7</u>(a). A chronic violator is a person who owns property whereupon, in the previous calendar year, the Town gave notice of violation at least three (3) times for the nuisance condition of tall noxious weeds or grass. The Town may notify a chronic violator of the Town's public nuisance ordinance that, if the violator's property is found to be in violation of <u>Section 18.4.7</u> (a) in the subsequent and consecutive year(s), the Town shall, without further notice in the calendar year in which notice is given, take action to remedy the violation, and the expense of the action shall become a lien upon the land or premises where the nuisance occurred and shall have the priority and be collected as unpaid advalorem taxes, unless paid by the property owner. In addition hereto, any such unpaid expenses shall be a lien on other property owned by such property owner located within the Town's corporate limits, or within one (1) mile of the Town's corporate limits, except for such property owner's primary residence, and such lien shall have the same priority as a money judgment lien. The annual notice shall be sent by certified or registered mail.

## Sec. 18.4.8 - Procedure not exclusive.

The procedure set forth in this chapter shall be in addition to any other remedies that may now or hereafter exist under law for the abatement of public nuisances and this chapter shall not prevent the Town from proceeding in a criminal action against any person, firm, or corporation violating the provisions of this chapter as provided in G.S. 14-4.

#### Mayor's Minutes

- Visited Tractor Supply. Store is doing well.
- Attended the Open House at the Biscoe Community Center
- Spent four hours at the Montgomery/Randolph County Visitor Center welcoming travelers to Montgomery County and Blake's Restaurant
- Met with the Mayors of four towns and County Commissioners Wayne Wooten and Jim Matheney
- Spoke with Mr. Jaimes and Mr. Roy regarding conditions on Harris Street
- Met with Carolina Dairy representatives, Town Engineer, Bill Lester, Town Manager, Brandon Holland, and Superintendent of Utilities, Sam Stewart
- Had lunch with Head of American Axle
- Cleaned debris from house at 403 Mill Street
- Welcomed Triad Jeep Club members to Montgomery County at Star Works
- Spoke with three groups at East Middle School with max McCaskill regarding the Summer Tennis Program
- Visited Biscoe Pool on Opening Day. Had 160 swimmers
- Met with the Cagle Family at Lewis Cemetery. They thanked the Town for their help
- Attended Youth Leadership Montgomery Graduation at Uwharrie Mountain Lodge in Troy with County Commissioner Jim Matheney
- Attended ribbon cutting and open house for shooting range at Samarkand. The speaker was the Secretary of the Department of Public Safety
- Attended an Executive COG meeting in Kernersville with Jackie Morris
- Attended the Annual Biscoe Lion's Club Auction